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ABSTRACT

The rescue excavations at Sollas, North Uist, in 1957 investigated a well-preserved Iron
Age wheelhouse and a more ruinous circular building. Large quantities of decorated pottery
were recovered from stratified contexts, enabling a sequence of forms and decorative motifs to be
put forward. The construction of the wheelhouse can be shown from a series of radiocarbon
measurements and artefacts to date to the first or second century AD, providing a fixed point in
the much debated Hebridean pottery sequence and in the development of Hebridean round-
houses. Beneath the wheelhouse floors were a large number of pits, many containing articulated,
dismembered or cremated animal burials, attesting to ritual practices. The site, which is the first
wheelhouse excavation to be published for twenty years, has important implications for the
structure, chronology and function of wheelhouses in the Hebridean Iron Age.
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INTRODUCTION

The excavations at Sollas, North Uist, were part of one of the earliest large-scale rescue
projects in Scottish archaeology, undertaken in 1956 and 1957 in advance of the proposed
'rocket range' on the west coast of the Uists. As a previous investigation by Erskine Beveridge
in 1906 had revealed a large wheelhouse and a souterrain on a low dune north of Sollas
(Beveridge 1911, 121-9), it was proposed to locate and excavate all sites on the mound in
advance of their destruction. R J C Atkinson, then at Edinburgh University, undertook the
excavation for the Ministry of Works over six weeks in June/July 1957. No funds were
provided at the time for post-excavation work and only three of the seven other excavated sites
have since been published: the wheelhouses at A'Cheardach Mhor (Young & Richardson
1960) and A'Cheardach Bheag (Fairhurst 1971), and the Norse house (MacLaren 1974), all at
Drimore on South Uist. Pressure of work, and more recently illness, prevented Professor
Atkinson from completing a report, but recent provision of funding by Historic Buildings &
Monuments (Scottish Development Department) has enabled a final report to be produced.
Due to the curtailment of the missile project in North Uist the site was not destroyed. It was
backfilled by the Air Ministry in 1960 and is now not visible on the ground.

This report is based on the material available to the author, though the time lapse
involved has resulted in the loss or misplacing of some of the primary data. In addition, there
were problems associated with the later stages of the excavation. Many of the walls started to
collapse after heavy rain and it was considered unsafe to draw any wall elevations and some of
the sections. The unexpected complexity of the pitting beneath the floors of the wheelhouse
meant that these could not be fully excavated or recorded in the time available. Accordingly
the Level III information in the fiche is not fully comprehensive, but the original records,
which contain some additional information, have been deposited in the National Monuments
Record of Scotland.

Although excavated more than thirty years ago the site remains of considerable
importance in a number of respects. First, it is the first fully published account of a modern
excavation of a wheelhouse. Secondly, there is a detailed account of stratified groups of
pottery from closed contexts of short duration; analysis of these groups gives a fixed point in
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the controversial sequence of Hebridean pottery (Topping 1987; Lane 1990). Thirdly, the
wheelhouse had an early phase of numerous pits, some of which contained a bizarre collection
of animal burials and cremations. The nature of these pits poses problems for the interpreta-
tion of the function of wheelhouses. This account does not discuss the implication of the results
of the Sollas excavations at length. Recent projects by Edinburgh University (Armit 1988a;
1988b), Sheffield University (Branigan 1989) and the Scottish Central Excavation Unit
(Barber 1984; Barber et al 1989) should add substantially to our knowledge of such machair
sites and, it is hoped, enable the abundant data from the Sollas excavations to be put in a more
comprehensive regional context.

SITE SETTING
The excavated sites lay on the northern boundary of the machair (Machair Leathann)

about 1 km north of the townships of Sollas and Middlequarter on the north-western coast of
North Uist (illus 1). All three names, Sollas, Middlequarter and Machair Leathann, have been
applied to the site in the past. Crawford reports that the actual mound is known locally as Cnoc
Slignich (Crawford 1986, 9) or Cnoc Sligeach (Crawford & Switsur 1977). Two main sites (NF
801 756) were excavated (illus 2): Site A, which was a newly discovered, much-robbed circular
building; and Site B, which was the wheelhouse first exposed by Beveridge. The wheelhouse
was set in the southern end of a large low dune measuring about 90 x 130 m and rising to a

ILLUS 1 Site location with other Iron Age settlements. Solid circles - wheelhouses; open circles - other types of
structure. 1 Sollas; 2 Udal; 3 Bac Mhic Connain; 4 Eilean Maleit; 5 Cnoc a'Comdhalach; 6 Carry lochdrach;
7 Foshigarry; 8 Clettraval; 9 Dun Skellor; 10 Balelone; 11 Eilean Olabhat. Sand dunes stippled; arable
blank; rough pasture diagonal dots (from modern Ordnance Survey maps).
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ILLUS 2 Site plan with contours in feet above Ordnance Datum. Open circles are recorded auger borings (fiche). The
approximate position of the souterrain recorded by Beveridge (1911, 129) is indicated.

maximum of 7 m OD, which is about 3 m above the level of the surrounding machair. This dune
was on the southern margin of a wide expanse of hummocky dunes lying behind the high
coastal dunes (illus 1). The Site A structure lay about 80 m SSW of the wheelhouse in a much
smaller and lower mound which stood no more than 1 m above the level of the machair.

The two excavated sites are not the only known structures in this part of the dunes.
Beveridge records the partial excavation of a souterrain on the north end of the same hillock,
about 90 m north of the wheelhouse (Beveridge 1911, 129). The only other recorded
prehistoric settlement in the immediate vicinity is the ruinous and unexcavated broch or dun at
Dun Skellor (illus 1, no 9), about 700 m ESE of the site (ibid, 219).

The Sollas site (illus 1, no 1) lies within the Vallay area of North Uist which is known to
be rich in Iron Age structures, many of them having been investigated by Beveridge in the
early years of this century; the other seven excavated wheelhouse sites (illus 1) being the Udal
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(no 2), Bac Mhic Connain (no 3), Eilean Maleit (no 4), Cnoc a' Comdhalach (no 5), Garry
lochdrach (no 6), Foshigarry (no 7), and Clettraval (no 8). Apart from Sollas, the only modern
excavations have been on the wheelhouses at the Udal, 4 km to the north-east of Sollas, so far
only published as brief interim reports (Crawford 1979; 1980; 1981). The apparent high density
of sites in this area is almost certainly a consequence of the enthusiasm of Beveridge, who had
bought the Vallay estate in the early years of the century. Modern surveys have shown that
large numbers of unrecorded sites exist on the machair belt of the Outer Isles (Armit 1988a;
Branigan 1989; Barber 1984; Lethbridge 1952, 193). Many of the wheelhouses in this area
seem to be located on the edges of this belt, especially if environmental changes, such as the
possible flooding of the Vallay strand machair, are taken into account (Scott 1948, 71).
Crawford (1977; 1978b; 1986) has outlined a long sequence of settlement and machair
development from the Neolithic to the present which provides a background with which to
view the Sollas settlements (see below).

The structures on Sites A and B are built of Lewisian gneiss, the local bedrock for all of
North Uist and much of the other Outer Isles. The nearest outcrops of gneiss which could have
provided this building stone are on the southern margin of the machair at least 500 m away.
Fresh water would have been readily available nearby in hollows on the machair as the water
table is just below the machair surface. Clay for pottery, floors and building would have been
brought from a similar distance as the stone. An outcrop of glacial clay in a stream south of
Sollas township produced a set of gneissic minerals which can be matched in the Sollas pottery.

THE EXCAVATIONS

As it was intended to excavate all structures on the mound the 1957 excavations were
preceded by a geophysical survey using an electrical resistivity meter. This survey showed a
number of anomalies which were interpreted as buildings. However, initial trial trenching in
squares 61, 115 and 35 showed that these anomalies were related to the depth of blown sand
and it was concluded that resistivity was of no use in locating structures in sand. Accordingly,
excavation was concentrated on the wheelhouse excavated by Beveridge (Site B) and on the
small outlying mound (Site A) where borings had located midden material. Several lines of
auger boring were taken across the main mound (illus 2) and showed a layer of blown sand up
to 1.2 m thick overlying a striped deposit up to 1.3 m thick consisting of layers of dirty sand
interleaved with spreads of peat ash. Below this was clean sand and in one case (in square 92) a
solid rock core to the mound. Dark midden deposits were encountered only in the area
immediately surrounding Wheelhouse B. The complete excavation of one-third of square 61
produced only one featureless body sherd. Although it was originally intended to locate and
re-excavate the souterrain recorded by Beveridge on the north of the mound, the unexpected
complexity of the early phase of Wheelhouse B left no time for this.

The entire area of the mound was gridded in 25 ft (7.6 m) squares, each square being
numbered 00, 01, 02. . . from the grid origin. On Sites A and B the excavation down to the
structure was carried out in 20 ft (6.1 m) squares separated by 5 ft (1.5 m) baulks. The
wheelhouse on Site B was within squares 13, 14, 22 and 23 and these numbers appear on some
high-level finds. On Site A these square numbers were replaced by a single running sequence.

The structures on Site A had been extensively robbed, almost certainly in antiquity,
leaving no more than one or two courses of stonework. Although most of the structural
remains belonged to a circular building, it had been repeatedly modified and rebuilt. An
almost total lack of vertical stratigraphy made it difficult to assign the short stretches of ruined
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walling to particular phases. The water table was encountered in pits below the floor of the
structure at about 2.3 m OD.

On Site B the structure was apparently in the same condition as it was left after
Beveridge's excavation even though he may not have backfilled the site. The inside face of the
wall still stood to its recorded maximum height of 2.2 m but some of the V-shaped corbels and
the doorway lintels had been lost. On excavation it became clear that Beveridge stopped his
excavation on or above the highest floor levels encountered. Indeed, in the entrance way (illus
32, fiche 1:G10) the section shows he did not excavate deep enough to discover the secondary
southern passage wall. Surprisingly, perhaps, Beveridge had failed to note the 'aumbry' or
blocked passage in Cell 5, and had miscounted the cells, adding an extra one both in his
description and on his plan. From consideration of his descriptions and study of the published
photograph of the site (Beveridge 1911, pi facing p 122) it seems that Cells 10 and 11 were
duplicates and as a consequence Atkinson retained Beveridge's numbering of the cells with
Cell 11 being omitted.

The wheelhouse central area was excavated in quadrants, but the baulks were never
removed. The cells were half-sectioned on radial lines from the centre and both halves were
removed in all except Cell 8, which was considered unsafe after a pier collapsed.

The clearance of blown sand and other heavy work was carried out by local crofters
employed as labourers but all the archaeological digging was carried out by a team of
experienced excavators. The assistant director was J V S Megaw and the major assistants were
Edwina Proudfoot, Faith Vatcher, Derek Simpson and Rosemary and Elinor Crawford.

STRUCTURES AND STRATIGRAPHY

SITE A

Site A had been extensively robbed making interpretation difficult. The whole site was
buried under 1.2-2 m of clean blown sand and it seems highly likely that the robbing took
place in antiquity since no modern finds were recovered. Structure A was oval and measured
approximately 9 x 10 m. The western half had lost all its stonework, the edge of the building
being represented by a cut in the dirty sand into which the whole structure was embedded. On
the eastern side of the main baulk stonework survived, but in almost all cases was only one
course high. The walls were the width of a single stone and were never free-standing, having
been revetted into the sand mound. As can be seen from the plan (illus 3), the structure was
extensively modified and rebuilt, leaving a jumble of short stretches of walling. Atkinson
distinguished six phases (A-F) of walling. The last three phases (D-F), he attributed to the
subcircular building which is here called Structure 2. The earlier phases (A-C) were assigned
to Structure 1, a preceding structure of uncertain form, though the excavator considered that it
probably occupied the same circular space as Structure 2. Alternative interpretations of the
sequence of structures are possible as several of the walls of phases A-F have no stratigra-
phical relationship to each other. Structure 2 is assigned to Period A2 and Structure 1 to
Period Al.

Structure 1 (Period Al)

The structural remains which predate Structure 2 are scattered around and outside the
internal wall of this building. The Phase A walling appeared to be an entrance of much the
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ILLUS 3 Site A with suggested phasing of the walls. Numbers give location of illustrated finds.

same size as the later Phase E entrance. A sill was bounded by two large uprights, with paving
on the interior. In this south-east quadrant several other stretches of walling assigned to
Phases B and C may represent rebuilding of the entrance. A large cell-like structure could not
be stratigraphically related to Structure 1 or 2 but from its position it belonged probably to
Period Al. At the southern end of the main baulk, beneath the internal wall of Structure 2, lay
a stone-edged pit which contained quantities of limpets (Pit 5). It is possible that the Phase D
'entrance' passage belongs to Period Al rather than A2 as suggested by Atkinson, and that it is
the entrance to a souterrain or other subsidiary structure.
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The other main concentration of Period Al features lay at the north end of the main
baulk. As the main section (illus 24; fiche l:E3-4) shows, a floor of greenish clay appears to be
cut by the wall of Building A2. An area of small stone paving which overlay this floor
contained the socketed handle 638, and several small pits were sealed by it. Pit 3 contained the
very finely made potting tool 628. These were the only distinctive non-ceramic finds from
Period Al. It is not possible to say whether this floor belonged to the same structure as the
Phases A-C walling on the south-east. The floor was overlain by some stretches of walling
which may represent a subsidiary cell of Structure 2.

Structure 2 (Period A2)

A tentative interpretation of Structure 2 is provided by illus 10. The subcircular structure
of Phase D was entered originally by a long passage from the north. This simple entrance
passage was replaced by the more complex entrance of Phase E which entered the house at the
same point, necessitating the removal of the east wall of the original entrance. This new
entrance was the best preserved part of the structures on site A surviving to a height of 0.75 m
(illus 24; fiche l:E3-4). The entrance passage, about 1.3 m wide, ended at a sill stone flanked
by upright slabs. Inside the sill the passage was paved with large slabs which incorporated an
inner sill. On either side of this paving there was a small subcircular cell, about 1.5 m in
diameter, giving the appearance of a 'double guard cell'. The western cell had a sticky black
deposit 'suggesting its use as a latrine', though the description sounds more like peat than cess
material. The use of a guard cell as a latrine is reported at the Udal (Crawford 1981, 5). There
was much pottery in both cells, including complete profiles of two vessels, 348 and 350,
suggesting that midden material was dumped here at a late stage in the occupation. Bone
implements included three possible quern handles 641, 642 and 710.

The entrance passageway was later extended northwards (Phase F) after a sand blow had
buried the original passageway - the extension was at a higher level and there is a layer of
blown sand within the midden deposits of the north-western cell.

The interior of Structure 2 had a floor of dirty sand and peat ash spreads overlain by
midden material. The only internal structural feature surviving was a short stretch of walling at
right angles to the main enclosure wall, prompting speculation that Structure 2 may have been
a wheelhouse. However the excavator dismissed this interpretation suggesting that it was a
buttress inserted to support the wall which at this point bulged inwards. He also thought that
the walling was too flimsy to have stood to any height.

In the south-east of the interior in the angle between the baulk and the wall quantities of
pottery lay on the floor. In this same area was a substantial deposit of blue clay 'ready mixed
with sand', presumably raw material for pottery production, a sample showing the same
mineralogy as the pottery. A piece of Egyptian blue pigment (511) was found nearby. This
object is important both as an exotic import and in giving a probable Roman date to Period
A2. Several bone implements were scattered over the floor, again mainly in the south-east
quadrant (illus 3). These included three of the pegged plates (630-632), two of the quern
handles (643 & 644) and the decorated stone (487).

It is noticeable that no hearth was found, despite the quantities of peat ash, though it is
just possible that one lay beneath the baulk. A patch of paving shown in the main baulk
section above Pit 1 may be the edge of a hearth.

Beneath the floor of Structure 2 were two large pits (Pits 1 & 2). Although these could
belong to the earlier structure, by analogy with Site B they may belong to the construction
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phase of Structure 2. Pit 2 was rectangular with stone paving on the base and a black organic
coating on the sides which may have represented a wattle lining. Pit 1 had a 20 mm thick
organic lining on the sides and base which the excavator interpreted as a decayed tub or barrel.
Because of the water table these features could not be fully planned and recorded. Several
'caches' of animal bones were found in the floor and overlying deposits of the central area, but
apparently these were not articulated burials. The only one of these suitable for radiocarbon
dating was sampled but contained insufficient collagen to produce a date.

Middens (Period A unstratified)

The midden deposits which originally attracted the attention of the excavators of Site A
lay mainly to the north of the structures under the highest part of the mound. As it was not
possible to relate these deposits to the structures all of the material has been classified as
Period A unstratified. There does not appear to be any post-Structure 2 material in these
midden deposits suggesting that they were contemporary with or earlier than Structures 1 and
2. There are no noticeable differences between the ceramics from the middens and those from
the structures. It seems therefore that the Period A unstratified finds are contemporary with
the structures though probably containing mixed material from Periods Al and A2. The single
exception is vessel 442, which came from clean sand below the other midden material and may
therefore predate the Site A structures. Its form and decoration are markedly different from
the other pottery on the site.

SITE B

The wheelhouse on Site B (WB) comprises the main wheelhouse structure itself with its
13 radial cells; an entrance passage; a connected subsidiary cell to the north-east (Cell A); an
unconnected structure to the south-east (Cell C); and a fragmentary passage, possibly a
souterrain, leading south from Cell 5 (illus 4). Midden deposits were extensively excavated in
the areas around the entrance in trenches EE, ES and EN, and in the area of the putative
souterrain to the south, in trenches S and SC. Further midden deposits, excavated in square 35
to the north, were probably also associated with the wheelhouse occupation.

Wheelhouse wall and cells

The wheelhouse has the piers separated from the main wall by a short gap, making it an
'aisled wheelhouse' or 'aisled roundhouse'. In comparison to other wheelhouses it is circular to
an unusually accurate degree. The internal mean diameter is 10.9 m and the walling does not
deviate from this by more than 0.3 m.

WB lies at the top end of the size range of wheelhouses, which are usually 7-10 m in
diameter, being closest in size to A'Cheardach Mhor (10 X 11 m). The wheelhouse is
subdivided by 13 short radial walls into 13 cells arranged around the perimeter. This is the
largest number of cells so far found in any wheelhouse, being one more than at A'Cheardach
Mhor. As already noted, Beveridge's original plan and description included a fourteenth cell
which Atkinson considered resulted from Cells 10 and 11 being recorded twice. This confusion
may have been due to Cells 7-10, which had been dug out by a cattle-herd, being infilled with
blown sand and partially dismantled before the rest of the structure was excavated by
Beveridge (1911, 122). Otherwise, Beveridge's plan is generally accurate though only as a
sketch rather than as a measured drawing. The insertion of the extra cell has distorted the sizes
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ILLUS 4 Photograph of Site A as excavated. From the south-west.

and wall positions of Cells 4-11. However, Beveridge's quoted measurements of these cells
(ibid, 123-6) are accurate and are not taken from the sketch plan. This inspires a certain
amount of confidence in his descriptions of features no longer visible, but as shall be seen he
was inclined to miss some features and misinterpret others.

In 1957 the walls of the wheelhouse stood to a maximum height of 2.2 m in Cell 13. The
lowest point, in Cell 8, was about 1.2 m below this, though this is where Beveridge records
damage in 1906 by removal of large slabs (ibid, 122). The internal wall was not free-standing
but had been constructed by digging into the sand dune and revetting a single skin of stones
against the sand face. This process is illustrated clearly in the sections (illus 5 & 7). Given the
dangers of collapse of a vertical sand face over 2 m high, it seems that the construction must
have been carried out in a short space of time with a large work-force. The quality of the
walling is excellent and the wall face is generally vertical, though with occasional bulges. There
is no sign of any corbelling inwards towards the top of the wall. The slabs of local gneiss are
unfaced and untrimmed but joint planes which give flat surfaces on some slabs are arranged to
give a fairly regular facing to the wall. There was no sign of bonding material between the
stones which were galleted in place with smaller stones. Lines of clay droplets in some cells
running parallel to the edges of the V-lintels led Atkinson to suggest the cell roofs had been
sealed with clay. In a few places patches of clay were found plastered to the surface of the wall,
as had been reported by Beveridge (ibid, 126).

The 13 piers are all of similar construction and size. Their inner faces lie 1.6-2 m from the
wheelhouse wall, leaving a central space 7 m in diameter. The piers are only a single stone
wide but the walling is of high quality; in particular, the inner ends facing towards the centre



CAMPBELL: EXCAVATIONS OF IRON AGE STRUCTURES AT SOLLAS IN 1957 I 127

ILLUS 5 Site B wheelhouse. Structural features of Periods Bl and B2 and location of main sections.

are very smooth and regular, a feature also noted at Kilpheder, South Uist (Lethbridge 1952,
180). At least two piers, 4/5 and 5/6, start to expand in width towards the top again as seen at
Kilpheder (ibid, fig 3) and also at Cnip, Lewis (Armit 1988, 19, illus 4), and was presumably
designed to reduce the span of the corbelling. The bases of the piers are not bonded into the
wheelhouse wall, there being a gap of 0.4-0.6 m which would allow access between the cells.
However, at a higher level the piers are bonded into the wall by means of pairs of lintels set in
a V-shape, as is commonly found in other wheelhouses such as Clettraval (Scott 1948, pi 4).
Originally all of the piers had this arrangement according to Beveridge (1911, 122), but many
had gone by the time of the 1957 excavations (illus 4). Although only one course of lintels
survived in 1957, except in pier 2/3, Beveridge's photograph (ibid) shows that in 1905 at least
two courses of lintels, separated by smaller stones, survived in some cells. Comparison with
wheelhouses such as Kilpheder and Cnip, where the evidence for corbelling is better
preserved, suggests that these lintels are the basal springers for corbelled roofs to each cell.
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These lintels formed low doorways between the cells. Beveridge noted the heights of these as
being 1-1.2 m. Several of these doorways were blocked with secondary rough walling (illus 4).
However, there is some discrepancy between Beveridge's account and the situation in 1957
(Fiche 1:E10). It is not clear if this is due to Beveridge's mistakes, or to blocking inserted
during or after Beveridge's excavation. The confusion arises not merely from the extra cell
included by Beveridge, as the Cell 1-2 doorway (whose position cannot be doubted) is
recorded as being open by Beveridge but was completely blocked by 1957. Unless Beveridge's
notes are completely unreliable it seems that some minor walling may have been inserted by
either Beveridge's men to prevent collapse or crofters using the structure for shelter.
Originally all the piers would have been separated from the main wall making the structure a
true 'aisled wheelhouse'. Beveridge, not recognizing the blocked doorways in Piers 3/4 and
6/7, assumed that these piers were complete and of one build. The question of which openings
were blocked in antiquity is of considerable significance in attempting to reconstruct the
changing patterns of use of space within the wheelhouse and the function of the cells. The
uncertainty makes the structural phase plans tentative.

Beveridge noted that several cells had secondary walls built across their inner ends (his
Cells 6-10 & 13) and Cell 4 had a stone lintel but no wall beneath. The low blocking wall in
Cell 13 survived in 1957. This wall is similar to the kerbs noted as a feature in several other
wheelhouses. As Beveridge noted, the only access to this cell was by stepping over the kerb as
both aisles were later blocked. The walls across the inner ends of Cells 6-10 were of different
character, being solid to the height of the top of the inner ends of the piers with a stone lintel
across the top. Lindsay Scott (1948, 72) assumed these walls were low kerbs, but it is clear
from Beveridge's photograph (1911, opp. p 127) that they were intact to the top of the piers,
preventing access from the central space. Such an arrangement is unique amongst
wheelhouses. Beveridge noted that the sole means of access to Cell 7 would have been by
successive doorways from Cell 11. The blocking of the doorway from Cell 9 to 10, seen in 1957,
must therefore be recent, unless the blocking of the inner ends of Cells 6-10 was recent,
otherwise there would have been no access to Cells 6-9. Given that the chambers with this
unique blocking across the inner end were precisely those previously excavated by the cattle
herd in 1906, it seems a reasonable presumption that the blocking walls were a modern
construction to convert the buried cells for use as a bothy. None of these walls survived in
1957, though footings were seen, suggesting that they were of inferior construction.

Cell 6 had two 'aumbries', or stone-lined recesses, in the wheelhouse wall, and was noted
by Beveridge as the only cell to have paving. These features point to a specialised function for
this cell, a supposition supported by stratigraphic evidence (see below). It is interesting that at
Kilpheder there is a similar arrangement in the equivalent cell in relation to the entrance.

Cell 5 contained a much larger recess 1 m deep, not noticed by Beveridge, which was formed
by blocking off an earlier passageway. Only a short stretch (2.4 m) of the east wall of this passage
survived. It is possible that this passage was originally the entrance to a souterrain or to another
subsidiary structure. Souterrains attached to wheelhouses are not uncommon, being found at
Usinish, South Uist (Thomas 1868, fig 16), Kilpheder (Lethbridge 1952, fig 2) and Tigh
Talamhanta, Barra (Young 1953, fig 3). However, extensive trenching to the south in areas SC
and S failed to reveal any trace of structures. Presumably the stone had been removed in antiquity
when the blocking took place. The character of the wheelhouse wall to the east of the blocked
opening, on the rear of Cell 4, is much more open than normal. This section of about 1.2m may
have been rebuilt as a result of the dismantling of the passage. The character of the walling is very
similar to that of Cell A indicating that they may belong to the same period of construction.


